Public Document Pack





Meeting: Northamptonshire Children's Trust Joint Committee
Date: Wednesday 2nd February, 2022
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Swanspool House, Doddington Road, Wellingborough, NN8 1BP

To members of the Northamptonshire Children's Trust Joint Committee

Councillor Lloyd Bunday (North), Councillor Scott Edwards (North), Councillor Jason Smithers (North), Councillor Fiona Baker (West), Councillor Matt Golby (West) and Councillor Jonathan Nunn (West)

Members of the Joint Committee are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business listed on the agenda below.

Agenda				
ltem	Subject	Presenting Officer	Page no.	
01	Apologies for Non-Attendance			
02	Notification of requests to address the meeting			
03	Minutes of the Meeting Held on 22 December 2021		5 - 8	
04	Members' Declaration of Interests			
	Items requiring a decisio	n		
05	Children's Trust Contractual Agreements	Rory Seymour, Commissioning Manager (NNC) Tony Challinor, Assistant Director Commissioning and Partnerships (NNC)	9 - 18	
Exempt Items				
06	None notified.			
	Page 1			

Urgent Items			
07	To consider any items of business of which notice has been given to the Proper Officer prior to the meeting of the Executive and the Chair considers to be urgent pursuant to the LGA 1972		
08	Close of Meeting		
Adele Wylie, Monitoring Officer North Northamptonshire Council			
	Proper Officer 25 January 2022		

This agenda has been published by Democratic Services.

Committee Officer: Ben Smith

01832 742113

democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk

Exempt and Confidential Information

Where there is a need for the Council to discuss exempt or confidential business, the press and public will be excluded from those parts of the meeting only and will be unable to view proceedings.

Members' Declarations of Interest

Members are reminded of their duty to ensure they abide by the approved Member Code of Conduct whilst undertaking their role as a Councillor. Where a matter arises at a meeting which **relates to** a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, you must declare the interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless granted a dispensation.

Where a matter arises at a meeting which **relates to** other Registerable Interests, you must declare the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but must not take part in any vote on the matter unless you have been granted a dispensation.

Where a matter arises at a meeting which **relates to** your own financial interest (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) or **relates to** a financial interest of a relative, friend or close associate, you must disclose the interest and not vote on the matter unless granted a dispensation. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.

Members are reminded that they should continue to adhere to the Council's approved rules and protocols during the conduct of meetings. These are contained in the Council's approved Constitution.

If Members have any queries as to whether a Declaration of Interest should be made please contact the Monitoring Officer at – <u>monitoringofficer@northnorthants.gov.uk</u>

Press & Media Enquiries

Any press or media enquiries should be directed through to North Northamptonshire Council's Communications Team to <u>NNU-Comms-Team@northnorthants.gov.uk</u>

Public Enquiries

Public enquiries regarding the Joint Committee's meetings can be made to <u>democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk</u>

This page is intentionally left blank







Minutes of a meeting of the Joint Children's Trust Committee

At 2.00 pm on Wednesday 22nd December, 2021 in the The Maybin/Sunflower Room, One Angel Square, Northampton

Present:-

<u>Members</u>

Councillor Scott Edwards (NNC) - Chair

Councillor Lloyd Bunday (NNC) Councillor Matt Golby (WNC) Councillor Matt Golby Councillor Jonathan Nunn (WNC) Councillor Jason Smithers (NNC)

Officers

Cornelia Andrecut, Director of Social Care, Northamptonshire Children's Trust (NCT) Rob Bridge – Chief Executive NNC Tony Challinor – Assistant Director of Commissioning and Partnerships NNC Jenny Daniels, Democracy Officer, NNC Anna Earnshaw – Chief Executive WNC Colin Foster, Chief Executive NCT Janice Gotts – Executive Director of Finance NNC Cathi Hadley – Director of Children's Services Martin Henry – Executive Director of Finance WNC

23 Apologies for Non-Attendance

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Fiona Baker.

24 Notification of requests to address the meeting

None received.

25 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 24 November 2021

Resolved that:

The minutes of the meeting of the Children's Trust Joint Committee held on 24 November 2021 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

26 Members' Declaration of Interests

The Chair invited those who wished to do so to declare interests in respect of items on the agenda.

No declarations were made.

27 To consider any items of business of which notice has been given to the Proper Officer prior to the meeting of the Executive and the Chairman considers to be urgent pursuant to the LGA 1972

There were none.

28 Approval of the NCT Business Plan and Provisional Contract Sum

The Joint Committee considered a report of the Director of Children's Services seeking approval of the NCT Business Plan for 2022-23 and the Trust's provisional contract sum for 2022-23. A copy of the report was marked as item 5 on the agenda.

It was noted that the approval of the Business Plan was a matter reserved for both councils as owners of the Trust and had therefore been brought to the Children's Trust Joint Committee for approval by both councils. This had followed receipt of a progress report to the Joint Committee on 24 November 2021.

The Chief Executive of the Northamptonshire Children's Trust stated the plan was built on that of the previous year's when the Secretary of State had commented it was one of the best he'd seen. It had been developed with the workforce, children and young people and colleagues around the table. There had been a number of challenging times and there would be more to come but they were moving well together.

The Business Plan talked about the vision and values. The Strategic Framework document had vision and was committed to children and young people. There was strong and stable leadership and that would be triangulated with what was happening at ground level.

Answers to queries on the report were given as follows:

- i) The placement situation had worsened nationally over the last couple of years. Directors had contributed to a social care review and they were currently waiting for the outcome of that. Locally they needed to build the best relationships with providers so that they became the preferred supplier. They only wished to work with providers that wished to give the best outcome for children and young people. As the situation improved they could mitigate the challenges of the past. They were getting there but it would take some time. Some work was being undertaken regionally in this and the East Midlands Region had put in for a grant;
- ii) How they approached Clinical Commissioning Groups and education was complex and it could be really difficult to find the right placement for children with increasing amounts of needs. They had been unsuccessful in their bid to the Department for Education so they would look at a contingency plan and see how they could create some capacity to meet the demand;
- iii) It was important to develop some in-house capacity and there was a need to work together with partners. They had discussed forming family hubs. More money would be received from health. There was a need to be clear about what could be done to assist so that more opportunities were opened up. Keeping families together was what was required;

- The business plan and contracts were inter-linked. There was a £0.3m increase from 2021/22 to 2022/23 which would be provided by North Northants Council (44%) and West Northants Council (56%) as agreed;
- v) The Trust had set out £2.99million of savings to be delivered in 2022/23. The Trust had also request £1million of investment, £300K for infrastructure (IT System) and £700K to meet the complex needs of families coming into the Trust;
- vi) There were risks which would need mitigating, including placements. There was also the risk that the cost of services would exceed the contract sum, the impact of COVID19 on demand for the service and that proposed savings were not found.

Resolved that:

The Joint Children's Trust Committee:-

- a) Approves the Provisional contract sum for Northamptonshire Children's Trust for the 2022/23 financial year;
- b) Approves the Updated Northamptonshire Children's Trust Business Plan for the 2022/23-2025/26 period.

29 Children's Trust Contractual Agreements

Resolved that: This item be deferred to the next meeting.

30 Close of Meeting

There being no further business the meeting was closed.

Chair

Date

The meeting closed at 2.17 pm

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5





West Northamptonshire Council

Children's Trust Joint Committee 2 February 2022

Report Title	Children's Trust Contractual Agreements
Report Author	Rory Seymour, Commissioning Manager – North Northamptonshire Council Tony Challinor, Assistant Director of Commissioning and Partnerships – North Northamptonshire Council

Key Decision	□ Yes	🛛 No
Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?	□ Yes	⊠ No
Are there public sector equality duty implications?	□ Yes	⊠ No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information (whether in appendices or not)?	□ Yes	⊠ No
Applicable paragraph number/s for exemption from publication under Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972		

List of Appendices

Appendix A – Support Services Provided by the Councils

1. Purpose of Report

- 1.1. To consider proposed changes to the contractual agreements between the Councils and Northamptonshire Children's Trust.
- 1.2. To seek permission from the Joint Committee to delegate execution of the final set of contractual agreements to the Chief Executives of both councils.

2. Executive Summary

- 2.1 This report sets out the proposed changes to the contractual agreements that exist to manage the relationship between North and West Northamptonshire Council (the Councils) and Northamptonshire Children's Trust (NCT).
- 2.2 The majority of contractual agreements were agreed and finalised in October 2020 before Northamptonshire Children's Trust's service commencement date of 1 November 2020. Following the Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) a number of agreements required changes. There were also some areas that required more detailed work between the parties before agreements could be

finalised and this was envisaged when the original documents were completed in October 2020.

2.3 The report sets out the background to the establishment of the Children's Trust and the work completed to date on progressing the contractual agreements. The report then summarises the key agreements still to be finalised, the proposed changes to these agreements and the implications for the Councils.

3. Recommendations

- 3.1 It is recommended that the Children's Trust Joint Committee:
 - Approve that the proposed changes and updates to the contractual agreements between North Northamptonshire and West Northamptonshire Councils and Northamptonshire Children's Trust outlined in this report are agreed.
 - b) Delegate the sign-off of the final set of contractual agreements to the Monitoring Officers of both councils.
- 3.2 Reason for Recommendations
 - To ensure the appropriate contractual agreements are in place to enable the strong management of the relationship between the Councils and Northamptonshire Children's Trust.
- 3.3 Alternative Options Considered
 - None. The recommendations in this report seek to finalise the Support Services Agreement and other documents necessary to give effect to the Children's Trust Governance arrangements and its statutory responsibilities.

4. Report Background

- 4.1 Northamptonshire Children's Trust (NCT) was established on 1 November 2020. It is a company limited by guarantee that was initially owned by Northamptonshire County Council. On 1 April 2021, Northamptonshire County Council was abolished, and two new unitary authorities were established; North Northamptonshire Council and West Northamptonshire Council. Northamptonshire Children's Trust is now wholly owned by these two unitary councils.
- 4.2 Northamptonshire Children's Trust was established in response to a statutory direction from the Secretary of State for Education issued in June 2019. Statutory directions are issued to councils that are poorly performing and, in most cases, provide children's services judged inadequate by Ofsted. In June 2019, Northamptonshire Children's Services were inspected by Ofsted and found to be failing to keep children safe, the services were judged inadequate by Ofsted as a result.

- 4.3 As part of the establishment of Northamptonshire Children's Trust, a set of contractual agreements were put in place to manage the relationship between Northamptonshire County Council and Northamptonshire Children's Trust. The majority of these agreements were negotiated and signed by both parties in October 2020 prior to the establishment of the Trust. Upon the abolition of the County Council, the contracts were novated to the unitary councils which took on the obligations of the County Council as set out in the agreements.
- 4.4 Whilst the majority of agreements were completed before November 2020, some of the agreements required amendment following local government reorganisation and some required further development. These are summarised in section 5 below.
- 4.5 The West Northamptonshire Shadow Executive and North Northamptonshire Shadow Executive previously gave delegated authority on the 23 and 25 March 2021 respectively to the Director of Children's Services to finalise the Support Services Agreement, the Interface Agreement and any other documents necessary to give effect to the Children's Trust Governance arrangements prior to 1 April 2021 and to make any necessary minor operational changes to enable the transition to North Northamptonshire Council and West Northamptonshire Council.
- 4.6 Whilst it was anticipated that this work would be completed by 1 April 2021, this has not been possible for a number of reasons. Since April 2021, officers from both Northamptonshire Children's Trust and the Councils have been working to finalise the agreements. This has been done whilst both parties were focusing on the commissioning and delivery of children's social care services which has at times had to take precedence over the finalising of agreements.
- 4.7 Additionally, some issues to be ironed out through the agreements were complex and required further work to get the agreements completed. This included some of the complex issues related to property agreements as well as the development of the 'performance concepts' included in the Support Services Agreement (see more detail in section 5.4 below). Some of the agreements were also inter-dependent on each other, so for example the Support Services Agreement could not be signed whilst there were outstanding issues on the Deed of Variation.
- 4.8 The council and the Trust also need to enter into a deed of variation to the Service Delivery Contract. This deed of variation makes amendments which are largely caused by local government reorganisation (see more detail in section 5.3 below) and therefore could only take place once the new unitary councils had been established.
- 4.9 Both parties have been supported by specialist legal support in drafting these agreements. The relevant agreements are now completed and ready for execution by Northamptonshire Children's Trust and both councils therefore recommend that the Joint Committee grants the Monitoring Officers of North Northamptonshire Council and West Northamptonshire Councils the delegated authority to execute the remaining agreements, as per section 3.1 of this report.

5. Issues and Choices

- 5.1 There are 5 documents that are due to be completed and that have been provisionally agreed between the councils and Northamptonshire Children's Trust. Each of these agreements is briefly summarised below with a summary of any updates or changes as well as the implications for the councils.
- 5.2 In addition to the 5 documents outlined below, the Councils are currently developing an Interface Agreement that will set out the interface between the two Councils in respect of the Trust. This document will be Council-facing as opposed to Trust-facing the Trust will not be a party to the Interface Agreement. The Councils intend to agree this document following completion of the documentation referred to within this report. Once this is complete, a report will be brough to a future Joint Committee.

5.3 Service Delivery Contract Deed of Variation

- 5.3.1 The Service Delivery Contract (SDC) is the main contract that governs how the Trust will deliver children's social care and early help services on behalf of the Councils. The parties need to enter into a deed of variation on the Delivery Contract, which is being varied to take into account the changes resulting from the change from County Council to the Unitary councils. The Delivery Contract (and its rights, obligations and liabilities) are statutorily transferred from the County Council to the Unitary Councils and the Parties to the Contract are varied accordingly.
- 5.3.2 The changes also clarify the position of North Northamptonshire Council as the 'Host Council' for managing the relationship with Northamptonshire Children's Trust. North Northamptonshire Council hosts the 'Intelligent Client Function' with the Trust which leads on contract management.
- 5.3.3 There are minor changes to the standing memberships of the key contractual governance meetings (the Strategic and Operational Groups) to reflect the move from the County Council to the unitary councils.
- 5.3.4 The Deed of Variation also changes some elements of the Service Delivery Contract that relate to the Trust's occupancy of the councils' properties and assets. These include making reference to the leases and licenses for the various properties that have been agreed between the Councils and the Trust.

5.4 Support Services Agreement

- 5.4.1 The Councils provide a variety of Support Services to the Trust to enable them to effectively deliver children's social care services. The support services provided are listed in Appendix A. Most support services are provided by West Northants with a small number provided by North Northants.
- 5.4.2 Two services are also provided by Cambridgeshire County Council and one by Milton Keynes Council which reflects the legacy of the old LGSS arrangements that were in place under the County Council. However, in terms of contractual responsibility, the Councils are responsible for facilitating the provisions of the full suite of Support Services to the Trust including those provided by third parties.

- 5.4.3 The Support Services Agreement (SSA) records the overarching terms and conditions upon which the Councils will provide the Support Services to the Trust, and details the service parameters, responsibilities and charges in respect of the provision of Support Services.
- 5.4.4 When it is agreed the Support Services Agreement will replace the Transition Agreement (TA) dated 30 October 2020. The Transition Agreement was entered into at the same time as the Service Delivery Contract and is a mechanism through which the Trust can buy back the Transitional Support services from the Council to fulfil its obligations under the 'Delivery Contract. It is a short-term agreement designed to allow the parties to agree outstanding elements of the Support Services Agreement.
- 5.4.5 There have been several changes from the Transition Agreement to the Support Services Agreement, these are:
 - The refining and development of key performance indicators (KPIs) for each of the Support Services. A draft suite of KPIs were developed to enable the Trust to hold the councils to account for the delivery of the support services. Over the last few months, officers from both parties have worked together to agree a reduced number of KPIs as well as agreeing targets for each KPI.
 - The agreement of the 'performance concepts' and how these relate to the KPIs. These concepts allow the Trust to hold the Councils to account for their performance of the individual support services by defining what constitutes a KPI Failure and prescribing a process for the rectification of any such failures. If the councils are failing to provide a support service to an adequate standard this may be defined as a performance failure, the Trust may then ask the councils to develop a plan to improve. If, after implementation of this plan, performance does not improve to the agreed standard then the Trust can escalate this through the contractual governance channels and ultimately choose to terminate an individual support service for an individual material breach.
 - The agreement of these performance concepts also clarifies the interface between poor performance of the Support Services and the Dependency regime under Schedule 4 to the Service Delivery Contract. It clearly defines when the Trust may claim a 'Relief Event' if the Councils fail to deliver one or more of the support services.
 - Changed to Schedule 1 The Support Services. This schedule provides an overview of what Support Services are being provided by the Councils to Northamptonshire Children's Trust. The changes are largely to reflect the changes stemming from LGR such as a change from the County Council to one of the unitary councils providing the Individual Support Services or a change in the primary and secondary escalation points. These escalation points are officers at the councils the Trust should approach if issues with an Individual Support Service arise.
 - Changes to Schedule 3 the Service Level Agreements (SLA). Each support service has an individual SLA that sets out the councils' obligations which includes the KPIs which the Trust will use to hold the councils to account. The previously proposed KPIs and targets have been reviewed to enable scrutiny of performance and to reflect the parties' priorities. There have also been minor changes to the SLAs to reflect changes from the County Council to the new Councils.

- The removal of the Information Governance and Data Protection support service from the Support Services Agreement. Parties have mutually agreed that this service can now be provided in-house by the Trust. Since 1 April, Northamptonshire Children's Trust has recruited a Data Protection Officer so there is now a clear lead in the Trust for this service. The Trust also felt that it would be able to deliver a service more able to meet its specific needs if it delivered the service in-house. This has involved the TUPE transfer of 1 member of staff as well as small accounting changes to the overall contract sum, however this change is financially neutral to both councils.
- The development of clearer processes to protect the limited exclusivity of the services, essentially there is an exclusivity period where the Trust may not choose to stop receiving a support service from either of the Councils. The updated Support Services Agreement also provides greater clarity more generally over termination rights and notice periods.

5.5 **Pensions Guarantee Agreement**

- 5.5.1 The Pensions Guarantee Agreement is a document supporting the Trust's access to the Northamptonshire Pension Fund section of the Local Government Pension Scheme.
- 5.5.2 In it, the Councils guarantee the Trust's obligations to the Fund should the Trust fail to meet any of its payment obligations. Almost all forms of access to the Fund require some form of guarantee, so this is not unusual. It in fact offers benefits to the Councils. By so closely integrating the Trust's access to the Fund with the councils, it means that there will be no need to underwrite significant costs such as an exit debt.
- 5.5.3 The changes to the Pension Guarantee Agreement are again mainly to reflect the changes caused by Local Government Reorganisation. The councils together will be joint guarantors of the Trust's exposure to the fund whilst West Northamptonshire Council will act as the administering authority.

5.6 Relationship Deed

- 5.6.1 The Councils were each automatically admitted as members of the Trust on 1 April 2021 in replacement of the County Council. The Councils have established a joint committee and joint officer board for the purpose of discharging their relevant children's social care functions, managing the relationship between the councils and between the councils and the Trust from 1 April 2021 to enable the Trust to deal with a single entity and forum for all matters.
- 5.6.2 The Relationship Deed governs the terms under which North Northamptonshire Council will act as the Host Council, being the legal entity and interface between the joint committee, joint officer board and Trust (given that the joint committee and joint officer board are not legal entities themselves) and will act on behalf of the Councils in respect of all matters relating to the Articles.
- 5.6.3 The Relationship Deed will take priority over the Trust's Articles of Association (if a conflict between the two documents were to occur) and will continue until the joint committee arrangements end or the parties mutually agree to

terminate the deed. During this time, unless the parties otherwise agree in writing, the Host Council will represent and act on behalf of both Councils for the purpose of the Articles (including issuing and receiving notices, giving and receiving information, consenting, approving or directing the Trust or being consulted by the Trust, exercising any rights or carrying out any obligations and anything similar under the Articles) and any reference to 'Member' shall be to the Host Council.

5.6.4 However, nothing in the Relationship Deed shall fetter any rights of either Councils, as member, to exercise their rights as members of the Trust including passing resolutions, voting, attending meetings, nominating Council Directors, appointing authorised representatives and accessing information relating to the Trust or in relation to their liability as members.

5.7 Side Letter to the Governance Side Agreement

- 5.7.1 The other document to be executed is a side letter to the Governance Side Agreement (GSA). The Side Agreement is a contract between the Councils and the Secretary of State for Education under which the Secretary of State is afforded certain consultation and consent rights with regards to the Trust.
- 5.7.2 The letter will be from the Councils to the Secretary of State for Education. It will address how the two new councils will interface with the Secretary of State, this is required because of the creation of the two new Councils.

6. Implications (including financial implications)

6.1 **Resources and Financial**

6.1.1 There are no direct resources or financial implications arising from the proposals. The contract sum for Northamptonshire Children's Trust for the current financial year has already been agreed and the propose changes to the contractual agreements will have no impact on the current contract sum.

6.2 Legal and Governance

6.2.1 This report provides a summary of the proposed changes to the legal documentation for the Committee's consideration prior to the amendments being made to the contractual agreements.

6.3 **Relevant Policies and Plans**

6.3.1 This report builds on the reports considered by the North Northamptonshire and West Northamptonshire Shadow Executives in March 2021, which set out the joint arrangements for governing the Children's Trust following vesting day of the new councils on 1 April 2021.

6.4 **Risk**

6.4.1 There are no significant risks arising from the proposed recommendations in this report.

6.5 **Consultation**

6.5.1 Consultation has taken place between the Children's Trust and North and West Northamptonshire Councils in preparing the contents and recommendations to the Joint Committee within this report.

6.6 **Consideration by Scrutiny**

6.6.1 This report has not yet been considered by Scrutiny Committees at either council.

6.7 Equality Implications

6.7.1 There are no discernible equality implications arising from the contents of this report.

6.8 Climate Impact

6.8.1 There is no significant climate impact from this report.

6.9 **Community Impact**

6.9.1 There is no distinct community impact from this report.

6.10 Crime and Disorder Impact

6.10.1 None.

7. Background Papers

- 7.1 <u>North Northamptonshire Shadow Executive Committee, 25 March 2021 Item</u> <u>16, Children's Trust Joint Arrangements</u>
- 7.2 <u>West Northamptonshire Shadow Executive Committee, 23 March 2021 Item</u> <u>18, Children's Trust Arrangements</u>

Appendix

APPENDIX A- THE SUPPORT SERVICES

Support Service	Service Delivery
Report Development - operational performance	West Northamptonshire Council SLA
Complaints	West Northamptonshire Council SLA
Customer Services	West Northamptonshire Council SLA
NCC Web and Digital Team	West Northamptonshire Council SLA
Asset Management / Property Services	West and North Northamptonshire Councils SLA
HR Transactions - Payroll & Pension Payroll	West Northamptonshire Council SLA
HR Policy & Projects	West Northamptonshire Council Lead Authority SLA
DBS – PAYG service	West Northamptonshire Council SLA
Payments and Direct Payments	West Northamptonshire Council SLA
Insurance	Cambridgeshire County Council Lead Authority SLA (through West Northamptonshire)
Finance Operations (AP / AP income and debt	Cambridgeshire County Council Lead Authority SLA (through West Northamptonshire)

Support Service	Service Delivery
Business Systems / ERP Gold	West Northamptonshire Council Lead Authority SLA
Audit & Risk	Milton Keynes Council Lead Authority SLA
Procurement	North Northamptonshire Council SLA
Health & Safety	West Northamptonshire Council SLA
Learning and Development	North Northamptonshire Council SLA
IT Services	West Northamptonshire Council SLA